# **ZBW** *Publikationsarchiv*

Publikationen von Beschäftigten der ZBW – Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft *Publications by ZBW – Leibniz Information Centre for Economics staff members* 

Scherp, Ansgar

## Conference Paper Authoring of Multimedia Content: A Survey of 20 Years of Research

*Suggested Citation:* Scherp, Ansgar (2014) : Authoring of Multimedia Content: A Survey of 20 Years of Research, In: Evaggelos Spyrou Dimitris Lakovidis Phivos Mylonas (Ed.): Semantic Multimedia Analysis and Processing, ISBN 978-1-4665-7550-9, CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 341-364

This Version is available at: http://hdl.handle.net/11108/176

Kontakt/Contact ZBW – Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft/Leibniz Information Centre for Economics Düsternbrooker Weg 120 24105 Kiel (Germany) E-Mail: info@zbw.eu https://www.zbw.eu/de/ueber-uns/profil-der-zbw/veroeffentlichungen-zbw

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieses Dokument darf zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen. Sofern für das Dokument eine Open-Content-Lizenz verwendet wurde, so gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

This document may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes. You are not to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public. If the document is made available under a Creative Commons Licence you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the licence.





Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

#### CONTENTS

1.1	Introduction and Overview			
1.2	Notion of Media and Multimedia     3       Multimedia Document Models and Formats     3			
1.3				
1.4	Central Aspects of Multimedia Documents: Time, Space, and Interaction			
1.5	Authoring of Multimedia Content			
1.6	Personalization vs. Customization			
1.7	Authoring of Personalized Multimedia Content 1			
1.8	Survey of Multimedia Authoring Support 10			
	1.8.1	Generic Authoring Tools	11	
	1.8.2	Domain-specific Authoring Tools	13	
	1.8.3	Adaptive Multimedia Document Models	14	
	1.8.4	Adaptive Hypermedia	15	
	1.8.5	Intelligent Tutoring Systems	16	
	1.8.6	Constraint-based Multimedia Generation	16	
	1.8.7	Multimedia Calculi and Algebras	17	
	1.8.8	Standard Reference Model for Intelligent MultiMedia Presentation		
	Systems 19			
1.9	Classification and Comparison of Authoring Support		19	
	1.9.1	Authoring by Programming	20	
	1.9.2	Authoring using Templates and Selection Instructions	22	
	1.9.3	Authoring with Adaptive Documents Models	22	
	1.9.4	Authoring by Transformations	23	
	1.9.5	Authoring by Constraints, Rules, and Plans	24	
	1.9.6	Personalization by Calculi and Algebras	24	
	1.9.7	Summary of Multimedia Personalization Approaches	25	
1.10	Conclusion			

Multimedia has been one of the buzzwords in the mid nineties. Since then, it has not decreased in interest but rather has become ubiquitous part of our environment. Thus, today high quality playback of images, audio, and video has entered numerous application domains and is available on various devices including advertisement screens at train stations, infoscreens in elevators, and mobile devices like cell phones. Authoring of multimedia content, i. e., creating content has been investigated for about two decades now. In this chapter, we investigate the different authoring support that has been developed in the past. Based on an earlier study [131], we conduct an extensive analysis and provide a classification and comparison of the existing authoring support.

Book title goes here

This survey helps not only in better understanding the existing support and approaches for authoring personalized multimedia content but also enables assessing future work.

#### 1.1 Introduction and Overview

The notion of multimedia is ambiguous. Basically, multimedia is considered the composition of the words "multi" (multiple) and "media". This means that multimedia is the combination and usage of multiple media. A medium can be either discrete or continuous, determined by its medium type. While multimedia content represents the composition of different media assets into a coherent multimedia presentation, multimedia content authoring is the process in which this presentation is actually created. Todays multimedia applications need to provide personalized content that actually meets the individual users needs and requirements. This means that the multimedia content must reflect the users situation, interests, and preferences, as well as the heterogeneous network infrastructure and (mobile) end device settings. Consequently, personalization is considered as a shift from a one-size-fits-all to a very individual and personal provision of content by the application to the end users. The term personalization often appears together with the term of customization. However, the distinction between the both is not always clear, often intermixed, and sometimes considered equal or interchangeable. However, we clearly distinguish between the notion of personalization and customization and will show that this distinction is not a mere academic one but provides for defining two different application families, the customized applications and the personalized applications. This is due to the different requirements customized and personalized applications have to implement their functionality. Finally, authoring is the process of selecting and composing media assets into multimedia content, i.e., into a coherent, continuous multimedia presentation that best reflects the needs, requirements, and system environment of the individual user. Typically, the result is a multimedia presentation targeted at a certain user group in a specific technical or social context.

The book chapter provides an extensive review of todays support for authoring and personalizing multimedia content. We first present our notion of media and multimedia in Section 1.2. In Section 1.3, the notion of multimedia documents, multimedia document models, and multimedia formats are introduced. In addition, the central modeling characteristics of multimedia content are identified and presented, namely time, space, and interaction. These definitions lay the foundations for understanding the notion of multimedia content authoring introduced in Section 1.5. In Section 1.6, the different aspects of personalization are presented and our understanding of authoring personalized multimedia content is introduced. Subsequently, we review the state-of-the-

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

art in the field of multimedia content authoring and personalizing multimedia content in Section 1.8. To this end, we systematically present and analyze the existing approaches and systems for multimedia authoring. Finally, we categorize and compare the different authoring support and authoring approaches for multimedia content, before we conclude this chapter.

#### 1.2 Notion of Media and Multimedia

Multimedia is the composition of the terms "multi" and "media" [143, 92]. It is the combination and usage of multiple media [113]. A medium can be either *discrete* or *continuous*, depending on its medium type (or medium form [77, 98]). Examples of media types for discrete media are text and image, e.g., computer graphics and pictures taken from a digital camera. They do not change in time. Discrete media types are also called time-independent [20, 143], time-invariant [71], and non-temporal [70], respectively. On the contrary, continuous media objects naturally change in time like the media types audio, video, and animation (cf. [55]). These media objects are time-dependent [20, 143], time-variant [71], and temporal [70], respectively. An instance of such a medium type is called a medium asset.

Summarizing the discussion above, multimedia can be seen as the interactive conveyance of information that includes (a seamless integration of) at least two media assets that are of two media types [77, 147]. A frequently cited, extended definition of multimedia by Steinmetz et al. [143, 78] requires the use of at least one continuous medium type and one discrete medium type. The definition also considers further aspects of multimedia with respect to storage and communication. This leads to a definition of multimedia that is characterized by the computer-controlled, integrated creation, manipulation (i. e., interaction of the user with the media), presentation, storage, and communication of independent information [143]. This independent (multimedia) information is encoded at least through one continuous medium type and one discrete medium type [143].

#### **1.3** Multimedia Document Models and Formats

The composition of different media assets such as images, text, audio, and video in an interactive, coherent multimedia presentation is the multimedia content or multimedia document (also called multimedia object [18]). Features of such a multimedia document are the temporal arrangement of its media assets in a temporal course, the spatial arrangement of the assets, and

the definition of its interaction features. A multimedia document is an instantiation of a multimedia document model. A document model provides the primitives to capture the aspects of a multimedia document as sketched above. A multimedia document that is composed in advance to its rendering is called pre-orchestrated in contrast to compositions that take place just before rendering that are called live or on-the-fly. A context-aware multimodal document model is presented by Celentano and Gaggi [43]. It allows for a rulebased approach for specifying different ways how multimodal information is presented to a user in a specific context.

A multimedia format defines the syntax for representing a multimedia document for the purpose of exchange and rendering. Since every multimedia format implicitly or explicitly follows a multimedia document model, it can also be seen as a proper means to "serialize" the multimedia document's representation for the purpose of exchange. Examples of multimedia formats are the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C) standards SMIL [40, 41], SVG [146], and HTML 5 [157], the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) standard Lightweight Applications Scene Representation (LASeR) [82, 83], and proprietary multimedia formats such as the wide spread Flash format [5]. Finally, a multimedia presentation is the rendering of a multimedia document to an end user. For a more detailed discussion and definition of the terminology, we refer to the literature such as [131].

#### 1.4 Central Aspects of Multimedia Documents: Time, Space, and Interaction

The expressiveness of a multimedia document model, i.e., the primitives it defines, determines the degree of functionality the multimedia documents can provide. These central features or central aspects [133] are the temporal course, spatial layout, and interaction possibilities of a multimedia presentation, i.e., how users can interact with the document [23, 26, 81, 80, 86, 125, 97]. We present an overview of these central aspects. For further discussions, we refer the reader to [133, 23, 26].

• Temporal course: A temporal model describes the temporal arrangement of media assets defined in a multimedia document [26, 25, 86, 66, 106]. With the temporal model, the temporal course such as the parallel presentation of two videos or the ending of a video presentation on a mouseclick event can be described. One can find four types of temporal models: point-based temporal models, interval-based temporal models [107, 11], enhanced interval-based temporal models that can handle time intervals of unknown duration [52, 79, 158], event-based temporal models [19], and script-based implementations of temporal relations [146]. The multime-

dia formats we find today implement different temporal models, e.g., SMIL 1.0 [35] and Flash provide an interval-based temporal model only, while SMIL 2.0 [19] also supports an event-based time model.

- Spatial layout: Not only the temporal synchronization of the media assets is of interest in a multimedia document but also the spatial arrangement of the assets on the presentation canvas [17]. The positioning of visual media assets in the multimedia document can be expressed by the use of a spatial model. It defines the spatial organization, i. e., the spatial positioning of the visual assets [26, 25, 86]. For example, one can place an image above a caption or define the overlapping of two visual media assets. Besides the arrangement of media assets in the presentation also the spatial layout is defined in the document. In general, three approaches to spatial models can be distinguished: absolute positioning, directional relations [118, 117], and topological relations [53]. The absolute positioning of media assets with respect to the origin of the coordinate system can be found, e. g., with Flash [5] and SMIL 2.0 in the Basic Language Profile (BLP) profile [19], while relative positioning is provided, e. g., by SMIL 2.0 [19] and SVG 1.2 [146].
- Interaction possibilities: The third central aspect of a multimedia document model is the ability to specify user interactions. The interaction model allows the users to choose between different presentation paths [25]. Multimedia documents without user interaction are not very interesting as the course of their presentation is exactly known in advance and, hence, could be recorded as movie. With interaction models a user can, e.g., select or repeat parts of presentations, speed up a movie presentation, or change the visual appearance. For modeling user interaction, one can identify at least three basic types of interaction [25]: navigational interactions, scaling interactions, and movie interactions. Navigational interaction provides for control of the flow of a multimedia presentation. It allows the selection of one out of many presentation paths and is supported by all multimedia document models (cf. hyperlink in [86]). Scaling interaction and movie interaction allow the users to interactively manipulate the visible and audible layout of a presentation [23, 26]. For example, one can define if a user is allowed to change the presentation's volume or spatial dimensions. Scaling interaction and movie interaction are rarely used or not defined within today's multimedia documents. Typically, such type of interaction rely on the functionality offered by the actual multimedia player used for playback of the presentation.

Looking at the existing multimedia document models both in industry and research, one can see that these aspects of multimedia content are implemented in two ways: The standardized formats and research models typically implement time, space, and interaction in different variants in a structured fashion as can be found with SMIL 2.0, HTML+TIME [136], SVG 1.2, Madeus [88, 89], and ZYX [23] employing the Extensible Markup Language (XML) [32]. Proprietary approaches, represent or program these aspects in an internal model such as the Flash format [5]. Examples of (abstract) multimedia document models in research are Madeus [88, 89], Amsterdam Hypermedia Model [73, 75], CMIF [39], ZYX [23, 22], and MM4U [134, 133], which is based on ZYX.

#### 1.5 Authoring of Multimedia Content

While a multimedia document represents the composition of different media assets into a coherent multimedia presentation, multimedia content authoring is the process in which the multimedia document is actually created. The process of multimedia content authoring involves parties from different fields including domain experts, media designers, and multimedia authors. Domain experts provide their specific knowledge in the field such as biology or sociology. The input from the domain expert is used by the media designers to create a storyboard of the intended multimedia document or set of multimedia documents, e. g., in form of an interactive multimedia application. Figure 1.1 depicts an example storyboard for the highly-interactive multimedia-based elearning tool GenLab [130]. The virtual laboratory GenLab<sup>1</sup> allows students of genetics engineering to conduct experiments without risks using the computer and preparing themselves for a real laboratory work.

Besides creating a storyboard of a multimedia document together with the domain experts, the media designers also create, process, and edit the media assets required for the multimedia document. To this end, the storyboard is used as basis to create a list of required media assets and to plan the implementation of the multimedia content. Finally, multimedia authors compose and assemble the preprocessed and prepared media assets into the final multimedia document. This composition and assembly task is typically supported by professional multimedia development programs, so-called authoring software or authoring tools (see Section 1.8.1). Such tools allow for the manual (possibly assisted or wizard-based) composition and assembly of the media assets into an interactive multimedia document via a graphical user interface. If the multimedia document needs to be programmed using authoring tools, the media authors are often computer scientists. The implementation of the storyboard of the virtual laboratory GenLab is shown in the screenshot of Figure 1.2.

Even though we have described the authoring of multimedia content as a sequential process, it typically includes cycles. In addition, the expertise of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://virtual-labs.org, last accessed: 20/1/2013



#### FIGURE 1.1

Example of the storyboard of the highly-interactive multimedia application GenLab (taken from  $\left[130\right]$ ).

 $\overline{7}$ 



#### FIGURE 1.2

Screenshot of the final interactive multimedia presentation resulting from the storyboard depicted in Figure 1.1 (also taken from [130]).

some of the different roles involved in the process can be provided by a single person.

#### 1.6 Personalization vs. Customization

The concept of personalization means different things to different people [123]. It is often intermixed and sometimes considered equal or interchangeable with customization [76, 150]. In this work, we clearly distinguish between the notion of personalization and customization as done by [10, 116]. This distinction is not a mere academic one, but provides for defining two different application families, the customized applications and the personalized applications.

Customization is an activity that is conducted and under direct control by the user [76, 116, 10]. This means that a customized application is actively adapted by their users to their individual needs and requirements. However, the customized application does not provide to adapt itself to the users. For example, users actively customize their cell phone's user interface by selecting individual content such as apps, ring tones, screensavers, and wallpapers. However, the cell phone itself does not adapt to the user (although of course some apps installed on the phone do). As customized applications do not adapt to the needs and preferences of the users, there is no need for them to provide a user model, i. e., to gather and maintain information or assumptions about the users' needs and preferences. All customization activities are carried out by the users themselves.

In contrast, personalization is considered a process driven by the application [31, 116, 10]. Here, the content provided to the individual users is adapted by the personalized application itself. Thereby, the personalized applications take, e. g., the interests, preferences, and background knowledge of the users into account [62, 10]. For example, a personalized web application aims at providing web pages to the users based on information and assumptions of his or her information needs [116]. Consequently, a personalized application must provide a user model, i. e., it must gather and manage some information or assumptions about the user's needs and requirements. The personalized application is able to adapt itself to the needs and requirements of the user, i. e., to individualize [115, 55, 114] or tailorize [115, 96] its content according to the information stored in the user model.

We support our decision to clearly distinguish between customized applications and personalized applications by the traditional distinction between adaptable systems and adaptive systems [38, 63]. While an adaptable system allows the user to change certain system parameters and adapt its behavior accordingly, an adaptive system can automatically change its behavior according to the information and assumptions about their users [38, 63]. Consequently, a personalized application is sometimes also called a user-adaptive application.

On basis of the discussion about the notions of personalization and customization, we can now provide our definition of personalization. Personalization is defined as the offer and opportunity for a special treatment in form of information, services, and products, provided by an application according to the interests, background, role, facts, requirements, needs, and any other information and assumptions about the individual. Personalization is conducted pro-actively by the personalized application and typically carried out to the user in an iterative process.

#### 1.7 Authoring of Personalized Multimedia Content

Based on the definition of personalization and multimedia content, we consider personalized multimedia content as multimedia content targeted at a specific user or user group. It is able to adapt itself to the individual user's or user group's needs, background, interests, and knowledge, as well as the heterogeneous infrastructure of the (mobile) end device to which the content is delivered to and on which it is presented. Consequently, the authoring of personalized multimedia content is considered as process of selecting and composing media assets into personalized multimedia content, i. e., into a coherent, continuous multimedia presentation that best reflects the needs, requirements, and system environment of the individual user. A recent survey on multimedia personalization has been conducted by Lu et al. [108].

The authoring of multimedia documents described in Section 1.5 represents a manual creation of such content, often involved with high effort and cost. Typically, the result is a multimedia document targeted at a certain user group in a specific technical context. However, this one-size-fits-all fashion of the multimedia document does not necessarily satisfy the different users' information needs. Different users may have different preferences concerning the content and also may access the content in networks on different (mobile) end devices. Consequently, the authoring of personalized multimedia documents raises new requirements. For a wider applicability, the authored content needs to "carry" some alternatives or variants that can be exploited to adapt the multimedia presentation to the specific preferences of the users and their technical settings. This approach has been investigated in the past in projects such as aceMedia<sup>2</sup>.

 $<sup>{}^{2} \</sup>texttt{http://cordis.europa.eu/ist/kct/acemedia_synopsis.htm}, last accessed: 20/1/2013$ 

#### 1.8 Survey of Multimedia Authoring Support

We have introduced and defined the central terms in the area of multimedia content authoring and personalization. These definitions lay the foundations for the subsequent analysis of the existing authoring support for (personalized) multimedia documents and the classification of this support. With respect to authoring personalized multimedia content, there has been research conducted for almost two decades. Prove of these achievements are among others the well-known Cuypers Multimedia Transformation Engine [69, 152], the Semi-automatic Multimedia Presentation Generation Environment [57, 58], and the Standard Reference Model for Intelligent Multimedia Presentation Systems [139, 56].

In the following, we provide an extensive overview in the field of multimedia content authoring and analyze existing approaches and systems for multimedia content adaptation and multimedia content personalization. We present today's support for personalized multimedia authoring from different points of view and aspects. Following this overview and analysis of today's support for personalized multimedia content, the considered approaches and systems, families of systems, and research directions are categorized in Section 1.9.

#### 1.8.1 Generic Authoring Tools

Multimedia authoring tools allow for the manual composition and assembly of media assets into an interactive multimedia presentation via a graphical user interface. For creating the multimedia content, the authoring tools follow different design philosophies and metaphors, respectively. Traditionally, these metaphors are roughly categorized into script-based, card/page-based, iconbased, timeline-based, and object-based authoring [122]. Examples of multimedia authoring tools are Adobe's Authorware [6], Director [7], Flash Professional [8], Toolbook [145], and the Edge Tools and Services [4] that allows for the authoring of Flash-like multimedia documents using HTML 5 [157]. Also Tumult's Hype [148] allows for an easy and interactive generation of Flashlike multimedia documents in HTML 5. These domain-independent tools let the authors create very sophisticated multimedia presentations, typically in a proprietary format or in HTML 5 in the case of Edge and Hype. In addition, the general purpose authoring tools typically require high expertise in using them and do not provide explicit support for personalizing the authored multimedia documents. Everything "personalizable" needs to be programmed or scripted within the tool's programming language. Consequently, the multimedia authors need programming skills and thus some experience in software engineering.

Adobe's icon-based authoring tool Authorware provides some support for creating personalized multimedia content [6]. It allows for a flow-chart ori-



#### FIGURE 1.3

Screenshot of Adobe Authorware for a flow-chart oriented creation of multimedia documents (taken from a test installation of [6]). It shows the flow-chart of a simple Hangman game (top left) with the decision icons when the user provides correct and incorrect answers and the actual rendering of the game (bottom right).

ented creation of multimedia documents as shown in Figure 1.3 that supports defining the control of the presentation's flow with Decision Icons. A Decision Icon calculates the current value of a variable or expression that is attached to it and determines by this means which path of the decision structure is followed [6]. Thus, the Decision Icon can be used in principle to "personalize" the flow chart of a multimedia application developed with Authorware. However, an enhanced support for developing personalized applications is not provided.

In the field of adaptive multimedia models exist authoring tools such as the SMIL Builder [29] that allows for an incremental authoring of SMIL documents while verifying the temporal validity of the documents at any step. To this end, the authoring tool makes use of a temporal extension of petri nets. Another tool that provides for the authoring of personalized multimedia presentations is the Madeus authoring environment [88, 89]. Here, constraints are exploited to compose and assemble adaptable multimedia presentations. However, these constraints provide for a personalization support only within a limited range and do not support exchange of presentation fragments as it is supported, e. g., by SMIL's switch element (cf. Section 1.8.3). In addition, the generalized

authoring tools are still tedious to handle and not practical for the domain experts, and following Bulterman in [37]: "Unfortunately, we have not seen the hoped-for uptake of authoring systems for SMIL or for any other format."

In order to provide multimedia authors a comprehensive support for personalized multimedia content, the multi-purpose authoring tools need to offer an editor that explicitly allows to define (abstract) user profiles. These user profiles need to be matched with, e.g., Authorware's **Decision Icon**, in order to select those paths in the flow chart that best fits the user's needs.

#### 1.8.2 Domain-specific Authoring Tools

In order to allow domain experts for authoring personalized multimedia documents, domain-specific authoring tools hide as much as possible the technical details of the content authoring details from the authors. They let them concentrate on the actual creation of the multimedia documents. The tools we find here [162, 67, 100, 99, 64, 132, 24] are typically very specialized and target a specific domain. They are often organized in a wizard-like fashion that guide the experts through the authoring process. An example of such a domainspecific authoring tool is the page-based Cardio-OP Authoring Wizard [93]. The wizard supports the creation of personalized multimedia content in the field of cardiac surgery [93, 72, 24]. It guides the domain experts through the authoring steps in form of a digital multimedia book on cardiac surgery.

Another example is the page-based Context-aware Smart Multimedia Authoring Tool (xSMART) [132]. It is based on the MM4U document model [134] and provides different domain-specific wizards for the (semi-)automatic, context-driven generation of multimedia documents such as multimedia-based photo books [129]. During the different steps of creating the multimedia document, xSMART exploits contextual information as depicted in Figure 1.4 to guide the author through the content authoring process. For example, in the context of authoring multimedia-based photo books, the tool takes into account among others the quality of the photos, limitations such as maximum number of pages, and targeted audience like for personal memory, for family like grandparents and friends, or for professional use such as architects and exhibitors. The authoring tool xSMART is designed such that it can be extended and customized (see Section 1.6) to the requirements of a specific domain by application-specific wizards. These domain-specific wizards can be developed such that they best meet the domain-specific requirements and effectively supports the domain experts in authoring the personalized multimedia content, while at the same time fully exploiting the generic infrastructure the authoring tool provides.

Similar to xSMART, the user-centric authoring tool by Kuijk et al. [99] allows for creating stories from photos. Another photo-driven authoring tool and layouting system is by Xiao et al. for creating photo collages [162]. Recent development of domain-specific authoring tools also take into account the



#### FIGURE 1.4

Depiction of the generic process for a context-driven generation of multimedia documents in xSMART (taken from [132]).

social web such as the video authoring tool by Laiola and Guimaraes [100] that is aware of the users' social network.

#### 1.8.3 Adaptive Multimedia Document Models

Early work in the field of (adaptive) multimedia document models are the Amsterdam Hypermedia Model (AHM) [74] and its authoring system CMIFed [36, 155, 75] using events and timing-constrains. Constraints are also used in the adaptive document model of the multimedia authoring environment Madeus [88, 89]. The ZyX [23] multimedia document model provides besides a temporal, spatial, and interaction model an extensive support to reuse (of parts) of multimedia presentations and adaptability of the multimedia content. The  $Z_YX$  model is used, e.g., for content authored with the domain-specific authoring wizard Cardio-OP [93] presented in Section 1.8.2.

With MM4U, we find a multimedia document model that allows for defining complex composition operators to encapsulate and abstract to higher level functionality [134]. It is based on ZyX and extends it by providing dynamic composition operators, where the structure of the resulting multimedia document is computed on-the-fly and depending on contextual parameters. The MM4U model is not yet another multimedia document model but has been derived by a backward analysis of the existing approaches [135].

The W3C standard SMIL [41] allows for the specification of adaptive multimedia documents by defining alternatives in the temporal course using the switch element. Some authoring tools for SMIL such as the GRiNS editor (not available anymore) provided support for the switch element to define

presentation alternatives. However, a comfortable interface for editing the different alternatives for many different contexts is not provided. SMIL State [85] is an external state engine for modeling adaptive time-based multimedia presentations in the web. Unlike its name suggests, the state engine of SMIL state can be used in XML-based multimedia document models such as SMIL and SVG. Different variants of petri nets are also used as formal model for multimedia documents [121, 159] with the focus on the temporal organization of the media objects.

A quasi-standard defined by the industry is the well-known and widespread proprietary Flash format [5] by Adobe. The recent W3C standard HTML 5 [157] challenges Flash with build-in support in web browsers through the use of Javascript and agreed-on application programming interfaces (APIs). Although the new standard is quickly gaining popularity, until today the proprietary Flash format is still predominant. For further discussions on multimedia document models please refer to the literature such as [131, 23, 26].

#### 1.8.4 Adaptive Hypermedia

Towards the creation of personalized multimedia documents, we find interesting work in the area of adaptive hypermedia systems (AHS) [94, 34, 33]. The adaptive hypermedia system AHA! [51, 49, 48] is a prominent example that also addresses the authoring aspect [141], e.g., in adaptive educational hypermedia applications [140]. Though these and further approaches integrate media assets in their adaptive hypermedia presentations, synchronized multimedia presentations are not in their focus. The main personalization techniques pursued are adaptive navigation support and adaptive presentation. With adaptive navigation [50] links are, e.g., enabled, disabled, annotated, sorted, and removed, according to the profile information about the user (also called link-adaptation [51]). The purpose of adaptive presentations [50] is to, e.g., show, hide, reorder, and highlight or dim specific fragments of the presented hypermedia content according to the user profile information (also called content-adaptation [51]). Recently, the AHA! system has been extended towards the Generic Adaptation Language and Engine (GALE) [30, 138]. Basically, GALE is a complete redesign of the AHA! system and allows for the use of distributed resources and supports the distributed definition of adaptations.

Approaches for adaptive hypermedia have also been extended to make use of social media such as the Adaptive Retrieval and Composition of Heterogeneous INformation sources for personalized hypertext Generation (ARCH-ING) system. The ARCHING system allows for the authoring of adaptive hypermedia from different and heterogeneous data sources including professional content and social media [142]. Another system making use of open resources on the web is Slicepedia [103]. Further work on adaptive hypermedia systems include considering provenance modelling for adaptation [95]. A comprehensive study of adaptive hypermedia systems has been done by Knutov, De Bra, and Pechenizkiy [94].

#### 1.8.5 Intelligent Tutoring Systems

Closely related to adaptive hypermedia systems are so-called intelligent tutoring systems (ITS) [137]. ITS provide personalized content according to the learners' or students' knowledge. The aim of ITS is that the learners gain new knowledge and skills in a specific domain by independently solving problems in that domain. An ITS provides a model of the student, a model of the domain, and a model of educational strategies [137]. This means, it comprises explicit assumptions and information about the knowledge and level of knowledge of the user in the considered domain (student model or diagnosis model), an expert's knowledge in the domain (domain model or expert model), and a didactic concept of how to convey and present the learning materials to the learners (tutor model or educational model). Such models are also defined with adaptive hypermedia systems, e.g., [48, 160, 161], although they are named different there. Consequently, AHS are sometimes considered integration of ITS and hypermedia systems [45].

#### 1.8.6 Constraint-based Multimedia Generation

A very early approach towards the dynamic authoring of adapted multimedia content is the Coordinated Multimedia Explanation Testbed (COMET) [54]. It is based on an expert system and different knowledge bases and uses constraints and plans to generate the multimedia documents [61, 110, 54]. Another approach in the same direction is the Multimedia Abstract Generation for Intensive Care (MAGIC) [47]. It is an expert system with static knowledge bases and a constraint-based content planer. Further approaches to automate the authoring of personalized multimedia documents are the Knowledge-based Presentation of Information (WIP) and the Personalized Plan-based Presenter (PPP). WIP is a knowledge-based presentation system that automatically generates instructions for the maintenance of technical devices by plan generation and constraint solving [14, 13, 12]. PPP enhances this system by providing a life-like character to present the multimedia content and by considering the temporal order in which a user processes a presentation [14, 13, 16, 15, 12].

Logics programming and constraints are used in the the Cuypers Multimedia Transformation Engine [105, 152, 154, 69, 153, 68] for the dynamic generation of multimedia presentations such as the example depicted in Figure 1.5. To this end, Cuypers makes use of its own internal representation model for multimedia content, called Hypermedia Formatting Objects (HFO) [152]. The HFOs are transformed to SMIL presentations using XSL style sheets [3]. The presentations Cuypers generates are adapted to user preferences as well as limitations of the targeted presentation platform.

Little et al. [104] present an extension of Cuypers that generates personal-



#### FIGURE 1.5

Screenshot of a multimedia presentation generated by the Cuypers Multimedia Transformation Engine (taken from [154]).

ized multimedia presentation through semantic inferencing. Subsequently to a keyword-based query, users start selecting media assets to be incorporated into the presentation. The media assets are automatically arranged in time and space using some *mapping rules*. The selected media assets are used to iteratively refine the query.

The Semi-Automatic Multimedia Presentation Generation Environment (SampLe) builds a narrative structure of the generated multimedia presentation based on genre-specific templates [57, 59]. The user can modify the structure of the presentation, adapt the temporal flow of the presentation, modify the content selected for it as well as determine the interaction possibilities of the users with the presentation. The final arrangement of the multimedia material is made available for consumption to the users in HTML format.

#### 1.8.7 Multimedia Calculi and Algebras

Multimedia query algebras and calculi can also be used to author multimedia documents. The multimedia presentation algebra (MPA) by Adali et al. [2, 1] considers a multimedia document as tree. Each node represents a non-interactive presentation, e.g., a sequence of slides, a video element, or an HTML page. The branches reflect different possible playback variants of a set of presentations. The MPA provides extensions and generalizations of the select and project operations in the relational algebra. However, it also allows to author new presentations based on the nodes and tree structure stored in the database using operators such as merge, join, path-union, path-intersection, and path-difference. These extend the relational algebraic join operators to tree structures. Lee et al. present a multimedia algebra [101] where new multimedia presentations are created on the basis of a given query and a set of inclusion and exclusion constraints stored in the database. The Unified Multimedia Query Algebra (UMQA) aims at integrating different features for multimedia querying such as traditional metadata like artist and author as well as content-based features like image similarity and spatio-temporal relations [42]. For the spatial relationships, the Rectangle Algebra [119] is used. Regarding the temporal relations, only closed intervals as defined in Allen's calculus [11] are supported. Open intervals like those defined by Freksa [65] are not considered. Interaction relations as it is aimed in this work are also out of scope. The Temporal Algebraic Operators (TAO) [120] allow for specifying multimedia documents along different sequential and parallel operators equivalent to the closed intervals of Allen. In addition, TAO provides an alternative operator that is similar to the switch-tag of SMIL and allows for an event-based synchronization of the media objects. Due to its focus on temporal relations, TAO does not support spatial relations or interaction relations. EMMA is a query algebra for Enhanced Multimedia Meta Objects (EMMOs) [163]. It allows to state queries against the media objects contained in EMMOs by following the typed edges of the EMMO graph. An edge type is

similar to a property in the Resource Description Framework (RDF) [9] of the Semantic Web. For example, there can be an edge type saying that two movies are similar or that one movie is a remake of another, and the like. Fayzullin and Subrahmanian present the PowerPointAlgebra (pptA) for querying PowerPoint documents [60]. It is based on the relational algebra and provides some new operators like APPLY. The APPLY operator conducts changes of attributes, which are defined by transformation functions. A transformation function can, e.g., change the color or fontsize. The APPLY operator can be used on different levels of granularity like slides, presentations, or the entire database. Like other query algebras, the semantics of PowerPoint presentations is not considered with pptA. The multimedia query model proposed by Meghini et al. [111] bases on fuzzy description logics and aims at providing a unified approach for multimedia information retrieval for the two media types text and image. Finally, SQL/MM is a standard for managing spatial information in a relational database [144]. It supports spatial queries on geometric shapes as well as extended textual queries like stemming and structural conditions such as finding an occurrence of query terms in the same paragraph [112].

#### 1.8.8 Standard Reference Model for Intelligent MultiMedia Presentation Systems

Finally, we find with the Standard Reference Model for Intelligent MultiMedia Presentation Systems (SRM for IMMPS) [139, 27, 28, 56] a generalized architecture for the domain of so-called Intelligent MultiMedia Presentation Systems (IMMPS). The aim of IMMPS is to automate the authoring of multimedia presentations in order to enable on-the-fly personalization of presentations according to the individual needs of the user [139]. Hereby, IMMPS exploit techniques originating from the research area of artificial intelligence (AI) [124] such as knowledge bases, planning, user modeling, and automated generation of media assets such as text, graphics, animation, and sounds [139]. The goal of the SRM for IMMPS is to provide a common framework for the analysis, comparison, and benchmarking of IMMPS. An example of a system employing the SRM for IMMPS is the Berlage environment providing for a dynamic authoring of adaptive hypermedia content [126, 127].

#### 1.9 Classification and Comparison of Authoring Support

Classifying the existing approaches and systems is a difficult and challenging task. Thus, it is not very surprising that there is only little work so far. To the best of our knowledge, the only source is the work by Jourdan et al. [86, 87]. They provide a classification of existing systems and projects into different groups and valuate these groups. In this work, we modify and extend the classification proposed by Jourdan et al. [86, 87] by suggesting the following six categories for classifying today's authoring support for personalized multimedia content:

- plain programming,
- templates and selection instructions,
- adaptive document models,
- transformations,
- constraints, rules, and plans, as well as
- calculi and algebras.

When considering the existing approaches and systems, it is not always easy to decide to which of the proposed categories a specific solution should be associated. In addition, some of the existing systems and projects explicitly combine or "synthesize" different approaches and thus need to be associated to more than one category. This means that they employ more than one approach to actually implement their personalized multimedia functionality. Examples for such hybrid systems are [86] and [91].

The single approaches for multimedia personalization are described in the following Sections 1.9.1 to 1.9.6. For each personalization approach, we first introduce the characteristics of this approach. Subsequently, we refer to representative systems and projects for the considered approach. Finally, a valuation of the approach is given, i. e., the advantages and disadvantages of the approach are discussed. A summary of the different multimedia personalization approaches and their assessment is provided in Table 1.1.

#### **1.9.1** Authoring by Programming

In the authoring by programming approach, regular programming languages are applied to develop the (multimedia) personalization functionality. Obviously, programming languages such as C++ and Java can be employed to develop a system that generates personalized multimedia content [86]. However, also logic programming, e. g., with Prolog, can be used to implement the personalization functionality such as in Cuypers. Programming is typically also employed with the generalized multi-purpose authoring tools presented in Section 1.8.1. Also domain specific authoring tools are typically programmed like the Cardio-OP Authoring Wizard for the medical domain.

With mere programming, every personalization functionality is feasible that can be implemented with a programming language. However, a well known disadvantage is the lack of independence between the programming code and the piece of information [86]. This makes it difficult to reuse some parts of an application for another one. In addition, as providers today typically develop their own specific solution and data models, the personalization

TABLE 1.1				
Evaluation of different approaches for authoring personalized				
multimedia documents				

Approach	Valuation
Programming	+ Arbitrary personalization functionality can be pro-
	grammed
	– Providers develop their own (mostly) complex so-
	lution
	– High effort necessary for extending or adapting the
	solution to a different domain or model
Templates	+ Well suited for applications where content selec-
& Selection	tion can be split into a set of pre-defined database
Operators	queries
	– Static templates are limited in their expressiveness
	– Difficult to handle global criteria spanning multiple
	queries for selecting and assembling media assets
Adaptive	+ Provide extensive support for build-in adaptation
Document	and reuse of media assets
Models	+ W3C standards exist
	– Not practical to specify all presentation variants in
	advance
Transforma-	+ W3C standards exist
tions	+ Transformation tools like XSLT are calculation
	complete
	– Difficult to handle multiple transformations
	– Often results in complex transformations
Constraints,	+ Declarative description of the personalization
Rules, &	functionality
Plans	– Expressiveness limited to declaratively describable
	personalization problems
	– Additional programming required for complex and
	domain-specific personalization functionality
Algebras &	+ Formal description of the multimedia authoring
Calculi	– High effort to learn the algebraic operators and
	difficult to apply

Book title goes here

functionality is tailored and designed for their particular application domain. As a consequence, high effort is necessary when extending or adapting the solution to a different domain.

#### 1.9.2 Authoring using Templates and Selection Instructions

With the second category, personalized authoring takes places with templates and selection instructions. A template can be considered as the static part of a multimedia presentation. It is possibly designed in a concrete presentation language such as HTML or SMIL and is enriched with some selection instructions [86]. These selection instructions are executed when the user requests the template. Executing selection instructions means that information is extracted from external data sources [86] according to the users' profile information. The dynamically extracted information is then merged on-the-fly with the template. Merging the static part of the multimedia presentation with individually selected dynamic content on-demand allows the template approach to provide for a personalized composition and delivery of information to the users. The authoring approach by using templates and selection instructions is applied, e.g., by the multimedia database METIS [90]. It uses XML-like data structures where specific parts of the presentation are only filled in when the document is requested by the client. Rhetorical presentation patterns are used by Bocconi et al. [21] for the template-driven generation of video documentaries.

The template-based approach for multimedia personalization suits well for applications in which content selection can be split into several database requests [86]. However, static templates are limited in their expressiveness. In addition, it is possibly very difficult to handle global content selection and assembly criteria when considering multiple database requests in order to choose those media assets that, e. g., best reflect the user's profile information or do not cross a maximum time limit of the presentation duration [86].

#### 1.9.3 Authoring with Adaptive Documents Models

Personalization by adaptive multimedia document models provides for specifying different presentation alternatives or variants of the multimedia content within the multimedia document. The presentation alternatives are statically defined within the adaptive multimedia document. During presentation time, the document's alternative or variant is determined that best matches the user's profile information. Finally, the selected presentation alternative is presented on the end device. Consequently, with the personalization approach by adaptive document models, the multimedia player on the (mobile) end device decides within the range of the available presentation alternatives which variant of the multimedia document is presented. Examples of adaptive document models are the Amsterdam Hypermedia Model, SMIL, ZYX, and MM4U presented in Section 1.8.3.

Adaptive multimedia document models provide for an extensive support for the adaptation and reuse of multimedia presentations and parts of it. Another advantage of this approach is that there are W3C standards such as SMIL. However, adaptive document models are less practicable when a comprehensive support for personalization is needed as all different presentation alternatives have to be specified in advance within the same document.

#### 1.9.4 Authoring by Transformations

With the authoring by transformations approach, two kinds of transformations can be distinguished [102]: the structural transformations and media transformations. Structural transformations can be, e.g., the transformation of an XML-document into a (standardized) multimedia format such as SMIL or SVG. Structural transformations also include changing the layout and arrangement of the media assets to different presentation styles (cf. personalization by style sheets in [86]), e.g., changing the spatial layout of the visual media assets. With structural adaptation, also an XML-document can be adapted from a desktop PC version to a mobile device, e.g., by dividing the content into different smaller screens or pages in the mobile situation. Consequently, structural transformations typically implicate an adaptation of the temporal and/or spatial layout of the multimedia presentation as well as possibly changing the interaction design of the presentation with the user.

In contrast, media transformations change the media type, e.g., exchanging an image asset to a text asset describing the same content. It also includes adapting the media format, e.g., transcoding an image asset from PNG to JPG, or conducting other binary operations on the media assets such as resizing a video asset or changing the color-depth of an image asset. Transformations are used by the Cuypers multimedia presentation engine to transform the multimedia content represented in their HFOs into the final multimedia format SMIL. XSL transformations (XSLT) are employed for generating SMIL documents within the Course Authoring and Management System (CAMS) [44] in the domain of e-learning. XSL-FO is used for providing different presentation styles [156]. Approaches that focus on media transformations are typically also found in the area of mobile multimedia presentation generation like the koMMa framework [84].

An advantage of the personalization by transformation approach is that the adaptation of the multimedia content can be described in the W3C standard XSL, employing XSLT and XSL-FO. XSLT is supposed to be computational complete [149, 151, 46, 128]. Thus, arbitrary transformations can be conducted with XSLT that can be described by an algorithm. However, due to recursive structures in XML such transformations easily become very complex and difficult to handle.

#### 1.9.5 Authoring by Constraints, Rules, and Plans

With the authoring by constraints, rules, and plans, creating personalized multimedia content is considered an optimization problem [124]. The creation of the personalized multimedia content is explicitly described by using rules, constraints, and the like, which are, e.g., stored in different knowledge bases. The personalized multimedia presentation is generated on basis of such a declarative description and by taking the profile information about the user into account. Such a presentation generation can also be regarded as planning problem [124]. Here, the user's request is decomposed in some subgoals that are to be reached. The results of these subgoals are accumulatively assembled to the final multimedia presentation (cf. [86]). To answer the requests, even those that were planned at design time, different knowledge bases are used [86]. A prominent example of a system that employs constraints and rules for the personalized multimedia content generation is again the Cuypers Multimedia Transformation Engine. Although it also employs transformation sheets, the main means for generating the personalized multimedia content are constraints and rules. With COMET, MAGIC, WIP, and PPP, we find several knowledge-based systems for personalization. The Standard Reference Model for Intelligent MultiMedia Presentation Systems is a very generic approach for authoring personalized multimedia content making use of multiple knowledge bases and uses constraints for layouting.

Systems applying personalization by constraints, rules, plans, or knowledge bases operate on a declarative level for describing the personalization functionality. However, due to their declarative description languages, only those multimedia personalization problems can be solved that can be covered by such a declarative specification. Consequently, these systems and projects find their limits when it comes to more complex or application-specific multimedia personalization functionality and additional programming is required to solve that problem.

#### 1.9.6 Personalization by Calculi and Algebras

With the last solution approach, calculi and algebras are applied to select media assets and merge them into a coherent multimedia presentation. This approach has emerged from the database community with the aim to store, process, and author multimedia presentations within databases. Consequently, work based on calculi and algebras are applied on the database level and provide for specifying queries that are send to a database system. The database system executes the queries and determines the best match of the different media items and presentation alternatives stored in the database. The result is then send back to the querying application. Examples of calculi and algebras for querying and automatically assembling multimedia content such as the multimedia presentation algebra are presented in Section 1.8.7.

The main advantage of the personalization by algebras approach is that

the requested multimedia content is specified as a query in a formal language. However, typically high effort is necessary to learn the algebra and their operators. Consequently, it is very difficult to apply such a formal approach.

#### 1.9.7 Summary of Multimedia Personalization Approaches

The classification of the existing systems and projects to the different categories of personalization approaches is not always easy and unambiguous. Nevertheless, we have presented a categorization of today's support for the authoring of personalized multimedia content. This provides for a more systematic management and examination of the tasks and challenges involved with the creation of such content.

#### 1.10 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have defined the basic notions of media and multimedia. As further prerequisite for our analysis, we have investigated and have defined the terms of multimedia document models and their instantiations, multimedia formats, as well as multimedia authoring and personalization of multimedia content. Subsequently, we have conducted an extensive survey of existing authoring support for creating personalized multimedia content. This survey and classification will help in better understanding not only today's but also future multimedia authoring approaches and support. Thus, it provides a more systematic introduction to the field of authoring personalized multimedia content.

Book title goes here

## Bibliography

- S. Adali, M. L. Sapino, and V. S. Subrahmanian. A multimedia presentation algebra. In *Management of data*, pages 121–132. ACM, 1999.
- [2] S. Adali, M. L. Sapino, and V. S. Subrahmanian. An algebra for creating and querying multimedia presentations. *Multimedia Syst.*, 8(3):212–230, 2000.
- [3] S. Adler, A. Berglund, J. Caruso, S. Deach, T. Graham, P. Grosso, E. Gutentag, A. Milowski, S. Parnell, J. Richman, and S. Zilles. Extensible Stylesheet Language (XSL) Version 1.0: W3C Recommendation, October 2001. http://www.w3.org/TR/2001/REC-xsl-20011015/ xslspecRX.pdf, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [4] Adobe, Inc. Edge tools and services, 2013. http://html.adobe.com/ edge/, last accessed: 20/1/2013.
- [5] Adobe, Inc. SWF file format specification (version 10), 2013. http: //www.adobe.com/devnet/swf.html, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [6] Adobe, Inc., USA. Authorware 7, January 2013. http://www.adobe. com/products/authorware/, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [7] Adobe, Inc., USA. Director 12, 2013. http://www.adobe.com/ products/director.html, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [8] Adobe Systems, Inc., USA. Flash Professional, 2013. http://www. adobe.com/products/flash.html, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [9] Dean Allemang and Jim Hendler. Semantic Web for the Working Ontologist. Morgan Kaufmann, 2008.
- [10] C. Allen. Personalization vs. Customization, July 1999. http://www.clickz.com/experts/archives/mkt/precis\_mkt/ article.php/814811, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [11] James F. Allen. Maintaining knowledge about temporal intervals. Commun. ACM, 26(11):832–843, November 1983.
- [12] E. André, W. Finkler, W. Graf, T. Rist, A. Shauder, and W. Wahlster. WIP: the automatic synthesis of multimodal presentations. In Maybury [109], chapter 3, pages 75–93.

#### Book title goes here

- [13] E. André, J. Müller, and T. Rist. WIP/PPP: automatic generation of personalized multimedia presentations. In Proc. of the 4th ACM Int. Conf. on Multimedia; Boston, MA, USA, pages 407–408. ACM, 1996.
- [14] E. André, J. Müller, and T. Rist. WIP/PPP: Knowledge-Based Methods for Fully Automated Multimedia Authoring. In Proc. of EUROMEDIA; London, UK, pages 95–102, 1996.
- [15] E. André and T. Rist. Generating coherent presentations employing textual and visual material. Artif. Intell. Rev., 9(2-3):147–165, 1995.
- [16] E. André and T. Rist. Coping with Temporal Constraints in Multimedia Presentation Planning. In Proc. of the 13th National Conf. on Artificial Intelligence; Portland, OR, USA, pages 142–147, August 1996.
- [17] M. C. Angelides. Guest Editor's Introduction: Multimedia Content Modeling and Personalization. *IEEE Multimedia*, 10(4):12–15, October/December 2003.
- [18] P. M. G. Apers, H. M. Blanken, and M. A. Houtsma. Multimedia Databases in Perspective. Springer-Verlag, 1997.
- [19] J. Ayars, D. Bulterman, A. Cohen, K. Day, E. Hodge, P. Hoschka, et al. Synchronized Multimedia Integration Language (SMIL 2.0) Specification - W3C Recommendation, August 2001. http://www.w3.org/TR/ 2001/REC-smil20-20010807/, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [20] B. Bailey, J. A. Konstan, R. Cooley, and M. Dejong. Nsync a toolkit for building interactive multimedia presentations. In Proc. of the 6th ACM Int. Conf. on Multimedia; Bristol, UK, pages 257–266. ACM, 1998.
- [21] Stefano Bocconi, Frank Nack, and Lynda Hardman. Automatic generation of matter-of-opinion video documentaries. J. Web Sem., 6(2):139– 150, 2008.
- [22] S. Boll. ZYX Towards flexible multimedia document models for reuse and adaptation. PhD thesis, Vienna University, Austria, 2001.
- [23] S. Boll and W. Klas. ZYX A Multimedia Document Model for Reuse and Adaptation. *IEEE Trans. on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 13(3):361–382, 2001.
- [24] S. Boll, W. Klas, C. Heinlein, and U. Westermann. Cardio-OP: Anatomy of a Multimedia Repository for Cardiac Surgery. Technical Report TR-2001301, University of Vienna, Austria, August 2001.
- [25] S. Boll, W. Klas, and M. Löhr. Integrated database services for multimedia presentations. In S. M. Chung, editor, *Multimedia Information Storage and Management*, chapter 16. Kluwer Academic Publishers, August 1996.

- [26] S. Boll, W. Klas, and U. Westermann. Multimedia Document Formats - Sealed Fate or Setting Out for New Shores? Proc. of the IEEE Int. Conf. on Multimedia Computing and Systems; Florence, Italy, pages 604–610, June 1999. Republished in Multimedia - Tools and Applications, 11(3):267-279, 2000.
- [27] M. Bordegoni, G. Faconti, S. Feiner, M. T. Maybury, T. Rist, S. Ruggieri, P. Trahanias, and M. Wilson. A standard reference model for intelligent multimedia presentation systems. *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 18(6-7):477–496, December 1997.
- [28] M. Bordegoni, G. Faconti, T. Rist, S. Ruggieri, P. Trahanias, and M. Wilson. Intelligent Multimedia Presentation Systems: A Proposal for a Reference Model. In *The Int. Conf. on Multi-Media Modeling; Toulouse, France*, pages 3–20, November 1996.
- [29] Samia Bouyakoub and Abdelkader Belkhir. Smil builder: An incremental authoring tool for smil documents. ACM Trans. Multimedia Comput. Commun. Appl., 7(1):2:1–2:30, February 2011.
- [30] Paul Bra and David Smits. A fully generic approach for realizing the adaptive web. In Mria Bielikov, Gerhard Friedrich, Georg Gottlob, Stefan Katzenbeisser, and Gyrgy Turn, editors, SOFSEM 2012: Theory and Practice of Computer Science, volume 7147 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 64–76. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [31] Paul De Bra, Judy Kay, and Stephan Weibelzahl. Introduction to the special issue on personalization. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Tech*nologies, 2(1):1–2, 2009.
- [32] Tim Bray, Jean Paoli, C M Sperberg-McQueen, Eve Maler, and François Yergeau. Extensible Markup Language (XML) 1.0 (Fifth Edition). http://www.w3.org/TR/2008/REC-xml-20081126/, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [33] P. Brusilovsky. Adaptive Hypermedia: An Attempt to Analyze and Generalize. In P. A. M. Brusilovsky, P. Kommers and N. A. Streitz, editors, *First Int. Conf. Multimedia, Hypermedia, and Virtual Reality: Models, Systems, and Applications; Moscow, Russia, volume 1077 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science,* pages 288–304. Springer-Verlag, September 1994.
- [34] P. Brusilovsky. Methods and techniques of adaptive hypermedia. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, 6(2-3):87–129, 1996.
- [35] S. Bugaj, D. Bulterman, B. Butterfield, W. Chang, G. Fouquet, C. Gran, et al. Synchronized Multimedia Integration Language (SMIL 1.0) Specification: W3C Recommandation, June 1998. http://www.w3.org/TR/ REC-smil/, last accessed: 22/1/2013.

- [36] D. C. A. Bulterman. Embedded video in hypermedia documents: supporting integration and adaptive control. ACM Trans. Inf. Syst., 13(4):440–470, 1995.
- [37] D. C. A. Bulterman and L. Hardman. Structured multimedia authoring. ACM Trans. on Multimedia Computing, Communications, and Applications, 1(1):89–109, 2005.
- [38] D. C. A. Bulterman, L. Rutledge, L. Hardman, and J. van Ossenbruggen. Supporting Adaptive and Adaptable Hypermedia Presentation Semantics. In The 8th IFIP 2.6 Working Conf. on Database Semantics: Semantic Issues in Multimedia Systems; Rotorua, New Zealand, January 1999.
- [39] D. C. A. Bulterman, G. van Rossum, and R. van Liere. A Structure of Transportable, Dynamic Multimedia Documents. In Proc. of the Summer 1991 Usenix Conf.; Nashville, TN, USA, 1991.
- [40] Dick Bulterman, Jack Jansen, Pablo Cesar, Sjoerd Mullender, Eric Hyche, Marisa DeMeglio, Julien Quint, Hiroshi Kawamura, Daniel Weck, Xabiel Garca Paeda, David Melendi, Samuel Cruz-Lara, Marcin Hanclik, Daniel F. Zucker, and Thierry Michel. Synchronized Multimedia Integration Language (SMIL 3.0): W3C Recommendation, December 2008. http://www.w3.org/TR/2008/REC-SMIL3-20081201/, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [41] Dick C.A. Bulterman and Lloyd W. Rutledge. SMIL 3.0: Flexible Multimedia for Web, Mobile Devices and Daisy Talking Books. Springer Publishing Company, Incorporated, 2nd ed. edition, 2008.
- [42] Zhongsheng Cao, Zongda Wu, and Yuanzhen Wang. UMQL: A unified multimedia query language. In Signal-Image Technologies and Internet-Based System, pages 109–115. IEEE, 2007.
- [43] Augusto Celentano and Ombretta Gaggi. Context-aware design of adaptable multimodal documents. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 29:7–28, 2006.
- [44] S. N. Cheong, H. S. Kam, K. M. Azhar, and M. Hanmandlu. Course Authoring and Management System for Interactive and Personalized Multimedia Online Notes through XSL, XSLT, and SMIL. In *Interactive Computer Aided Learning; Villach, Austria*, September 2002.
- [45] O. Conlan. Novel components for supporting adaptivity in education systems - model-based integration approach. In Proc. of the 8th ACM Int. Conf. on Multimedia; Marina del Rey, CA, USA, pages 519–520. ACM, 2000.

- [46] P. Cousot. Methods and logics for proving programs. In Handbook of Theoretical Computer Science, Volume B: Formal Models and Sematics (B), pages 841–994. Elsevier, 1990.
- [47] M. Dalal, S. Feiner, K. McKeown, S. Pan, M. Zhou, T. Hllerer, J. Shaw, Y. Feng, and J. Fromer. Negotiation for automated generation of temporal multimedia presentations. In Proc. of the 4th ACM Int. Conf. on Multimedia; Boston, MA, USA, pages 55–64. ACM, 1996.
- [48] P. De Bra, A. Aerts, B. Berden, B. De Lange, B. Rousseau, T. Santic, D. Smits, and N. Stash. AHA! The adaptive hypermedia architecture. In Proc. of the 14th ACM Conf. on Hypertext and hypermedia; Nottingham, UK, pages 81–84, August 2003.
- [49] P. De Bra, A. Aerts, D. Smits, and N. Stash. AHA! Version 2.0: More Adaptation Flexibility for Authors. In *Proc. of the AACE ELearn'2002 Conf.*, pages 240–246. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education, VA, USA, October 2002.
- [50] P. De Bra, P. Brusilovsky, and G.-J. Houben. Adaptive hypermedia: from systems to framework. ACM Computing Surveys, 31(4):12, December 1999.
- [51] P. De Bra, G.-J. Houben, and H. Wu. AHAM: A Dexter-based Reference Model for Adaptive Hypermedia. In Proc. of the 10th ACM Conf. on Hypertext and hypermedia: returning to our diverse roots; Darmstadt, Germany, pages 147–156. ACM, 1999.
- [52] A. Duda and C. Keramane. Structured Temporal Composition of Multimedia Data; Blue Mountain Lake, NY, USA. In Proc. of the IEEE Int. Workshop Multimedia-Database-Management Systems, pages 136–142. IEEE, 1995.
- [53] M. J. Egenhofer and R. Franzosa. Point-Set Topological Spatial Relations. Int. Journal of Geographic Information Systems, 5(2):161–174, March 1991.
- [54] M. Elhadad, S. Feiner, K. McKeown, and D. Seligmann. Generating customized text and graphics in the COMET explanation testbed. In *Proc. of the 23rd conf. on Winter simulation; Phoenix, AZ, USA*, pages 1058–1065. IEEE, 1991.
- [55] Encyclopaedia Britannica, Inc., Chicago, USA. Encyclopaedia Britannica 2005 Ultimate Reference Suite DVD, 2005.
- [56] G. P. Faconti and T. Rist, editors. Proc. of ECAI-96 Workshop Towards a Standard Reference Model for Intelligent Multimedia Presentation Systems; Budapest, Hungary, 1996.

- [57] Kateryna Falkovych and Frank Nack. Context aware guidance for multimedia authoring: harmonizing domain and discourse knowledge. *Multimedia Syst.*, 11(3):226–235, 2006.
- [58] Kateryna Falkovych, Frank Nack, Jacco van Ossenbruggen, and Lloyd Rutledge. Sample: Towards a framework for system-supported multimedia authoring. In Yi-Ping Phoebe Chen, editor, 10th International Multimedia Modeling Conference; Brisbane, Australia, pages 362–362. IEEE Computer Society, 2004.
- [59] Kateryna Falkovych, Jana Werner, and Frank Nack. Semantic-based support for the semi-automatic construction of multimedia presentations. In 1st Int. Workshop on Interaction Design and the Semantic Web, May 2004.
- [60] Marat Fayzullin and V. S. Subrahmanian. An algebra for powerpoint sources. *Multimedia Tools Appl.*, 24(3):273–301, 2004.
- [61] S. K. Feiner and K. R. McKeown. Automating the generation of coordinated multimedia explanations. In Maybury [109], chapter 5, pages 117–138.
- [62] J. Fink and A. Kobsa. User Modeling for Personalized City Tours. Artificial Intelligence Review, 18(1):33–74, 2002.
- [63] J. Fink, A. Kobsa, and J. Schreck. Personalized hypermedia information through adaptive and adaptable system features: User modeling, privacy and security issues. In A. Mullery, M. Besson, M. Campolargo, R. Gobbi, and R. Reed, editors, *Intelligence in Services and Networks: Technology* for Cooperative Competition, pages 459–467. Springer-Verlag, 1997.
- [64] Jonathan G.K. Foss and Alexandra I. Cristea. The next generation authoring adaptive hypermedia: using and evaluating the MOT3.0 and PEAL tools. In *Proceedings of the 21st ACM conference on Hypertext* and hypermedia, HT '10, pages 83–92, New York, NY, USA, 2010. ACM.
- [65] Christian Freksa. Temporal reasoning based on semi-intervals. Artif. Intell., 54(1-2):199–227, 1992.
- [66] B. Fuhrt. Multimedia Systems: An Overview. IEEE MultiMedia, 1(1):47–59, 1994.
- [67] Conor Gaffney, Declan Dagger, and Vincent Wade. A survey of soft skill simulation authoring tools. In *Proceedings of the nineteenth ACM* conference on Hypertext and hypermedia, HT '08, pages 181–186, New York, NY, USA, 2008. ACM.
- [68] J. Geurts. Constraints for multimedia presentation generation. Master's thesis, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, January 2002.

- [69] J. Geurts, J. van Ossenbruggen, and L. Hardman. Application-specific constraints for multimedia presentation generation. In Proc. of the Int. Conf. on Multimedia Modeling; Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pages 247–266. IEEE, November 2001.
- [70] S. J. Gibbs and D. C. Tsichritzis. Multimedia Programming: Objects, Environments and Frameworks. ACM Press Books. Addison-Wesley, 2nd edition, 1995.
- [71] R. Götze, D. Boles, and H. Eirund. Multimedia user interfaces. In M. Sonnenschein, editor, *Final Report Arbeitsgruppe Informatik- Systeme*, chapter 6, pages 120–165. Carl von Ossietzky University, Oldenburg, Germany, November 1996.
- [72] C. Greiner and T. Rose. A Web Based Training System for Cardiac Surgery: The Role of Knowledge Management for Interlinking Information Items. In Proc. The World Congress on the Internet in Medicine; London, UK, November 1998.
- [73] L. Hardman. Modeling and Authoring Hypermedia Documents. PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, March 1998.
- [74] L. Hardman, D. C. A. Bulterman, and G. van Rossum. The Amsterdam hypermedia model: adding time and context to the Dexter model. *Communications of the ACM*, 37(2):50–62, February 1994.
- [75] L. Hardman, G. van Rossum, J. Jansen, and S. Mullender. CMIFed: a transportable hypermedia authoring system. In *MULTIMEDIA*, pages 471–472. ACM, 1994.
- [76] Marti A. Hearst. Search User Interfaces. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA, 1st edition, 2009.
- [77] R. S. Heller, C. D. Martin, N. Haneef, and S. Gievska-Krliu. Using a theoretical multimedia taxonomy framework. J. Educ. Resour. Comput., 1(1es):6, 2001.
- [78] R. G. Herrtwich and R. Steinmetz. Towards Integrated Multimedia Systems: Why and How. In J. L. Encarnação, editor, *Jahrestagung Gesellschaft für Informatik*, volume 293 of *Informatik-Fachberichte*, pages 327–342. Springer-Verlag, 1991.
- [79] N. Hirzalla, B. Falchuk, and A. Karmouch. A Temporal Model for Interactive Multimedia Scenarios. *IEEE Multimedia*, 2(3):24–31, 1995.
- [80] M. Honkala, P. Cesar, and P. Vuorimaa. A Device Independent XML User Agent for Multimedia Terminals. In Proc. of the IEEE 6th Int. Symposium on Multimedia Software Engineering; Miami, FL, USA, pages 116–123. IEEE, December 2004.

#### Book title goes here

- [81] T. Ignatova and I. Bruder. Utilizing a Multimedia UML Framework for an Image Database Application. In J. Akoka, S. W. Liddle, I.-Y. Song, M. Bertolotto, I. Comyn-Wattiau, S. S.-S. Cherfi, W.-J. van den Heuvel, B. Thalheim, M. Kolp, P. Bresciani, J. Trujillo, C. Kop, and H. C. Mayr, editors, *ER (Workshops); Klagenfurt, Austria*, volume 3770 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 23–32. Springer-Verlag, 2005.
- [82] ISO/IEC (Int. Organization for Standardization/Int. Electrotechnical Commission). Information technology - Coding of audio-visual objects - Part 20: Lightweight Application Scene Representation (LASeR) and Simple Aggregation Format (SAF), June 2006.
- [83] ISO/IEC (Int. Organization for Standardization/Int. Electrotechnical Commission) JTC1/SC29/WG11. LASeR and SAF editor's study: ISO/IEC 14496-20 Study; Poznan, Poland, July 2005.
- [84] D. Jannach, K. Leopold, C. Timmerer, and H. Hellwagner. A knowledgebased framework for multimedia adaptation. *Applied Intelligence*, 24(2):109–125, 2006.
- [85] Jack Jansen and Dick C.A. Bulterman. SMIL state: an architecture and implementation for adaptive time-based web applications. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 43:203–224, 2009.
- [86] M. Jourdan and F. Bes. A new step towards multimedia documents generation. In Int. Conf. on Media Futures, pages 25–28, May 2001.
- [87] M. Jourdan, N. Layaïda, and C. Roisin. Authoring Techniques for Temporal Scenarios of Multimedia Documents. In *Handbook of Internet and multimedia systems and applications*, chapter 8, pages 179–200. CRC press, IEEE press, 1999.
- [88] M. Jourdan, N. Layaïda, C. Roisin, L. Sabry-Ismaïl, and L. Tardif. Madeus, an Authoring Environment for Interactive Multimedia Documents. In *MULTIMEDIA*, pages 267–272. ACM, 1998.
- [89] M. Jourdan, N. Layaïda, and L. Sabry-Ismaïl. Authoring Environment for Interactive Multimedia Documents. In Int. Conf. on Computer Communications, pages 19–26, November 1997.
- [90] Ross King, Niko Popitsch, and Utz Westermann. Metis: a flexible foundation for the unified management of multimedia assets. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 33:325–349, 2007.
- [91] A. Kinno, Y. Yonemoto, M. Morioka, and M. Etoh. Environment Adaptive XML Transformation and Its Application to Content Delivery. In Proc. of the 2003 Symposium on Applications and the Internet; Washington, DC, USA, pages 31–38. IEEE, 2003.

- [92] L. Kjelldahl. Introduction. In L. Kjelldahl, editor, Multimedia: Systems, Interaction and Applications, chapter 1, pages 3–5. Springer-Verlag, April 1991.
- [93] W. Klas, C. Greiner, and R. Friedl. Cardio-OP: Gallery of Cardiac Surgery. In *IEEE Int. Conf. on Multimedia Computing and Systems; Florence, Italy*, pages 1092–1095, July 1999.
- [94] Evgeny Knutov, Paul De Bra, and Mykola Pechenizkiy. AH 12 years later: a comprehensive survey of adaptive hypermedia methods and techniques. New Review of Hypermedia and Multimedia, 15(1):5–38, 2009.
- [95] Evgeny Knutov, Paul De Bra, and Mykola Pechenizkiy. Provenance meets adaptive hypermedia. In *Proceedings of the 21st ACM conference* on Hypertext and hypermedia, HT '10, pages 93–98, New York, NY, USA, 2010. ACM.
- [96] M. Koch. Global Identity Management to Boost Personalization. In P. Schubert and U. Leimstoll, editors, *Proc. Research Symposium on Emerging Electronic Markets; Basel, Switzerland*, pages 137–147. Institute for Business Economics (IAB), University of Applied Sciences, Basel, Switzerland, September 2002.
- [97] J. F. Koegel Buford. Architectures and issues for distributed multimedia systems. In J. F. Koegel Buford, editor, *Multimedia systems*, SIGGRAPH series, chapter 3, pages 45–64. ACM, December 1994.
- [98] J. F. Koegel Buford. Uses of multimedia information. In J. F. Koegel Buford, editor, *Multimedia systems*, SIGGRAPH series, chapter 1, pages 1–25. ACM, December 1994.
- [99] Fons Kuijk, RodrigoLaiola Guimares, Pablo Cesar, and Dick C.A. Bulterman. From photos to memories: A user-centric authoring tool for telling stories with your photos. In Petros Daras and OscarMayora Ibarra, editors, User Centric Media, volume 40 of Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, pages 13–20. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [100] Rodrigo Laiola Guimarães, Pablo Cesar, Dick C.A. Bulterman, Vilmos Zsombori, and Ian Kegel. Creating personalized memories from social events: community-based support for multi-camera recordings of school concerts. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM international conference on Multimedia*, MM '11, pages 303–312, New York, NY, USA, 2011. ACM.
- [101] T. Lee, L. Sheng, T. Bozkaya, N. H. Balkir, Özsoyoglu. Z. M., and G. Özsoyoglu. Querying Multimedia Presentations Based on Content. *IEEE Trans. on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 11(3):361–385, May/June 1999.

- [102] T. Lemlouma and N. Layaïda. Adapted Content Delivery for Different Contexts. In Symposium on Applications and the Internet; Orlando, FL, USA, pages 190–197. IEEE, January 2003.
- [103] Killian Levacher, Séamus Lawless, and Vincent Wade. Slicepedia: providing customized reuse of open-web resources for adaptive hypermedia. In Proceedings of the 23rd ACM conference on Hypertext and social media, HT '12, pages 23–32, New York, NY, USA, 2012. ACM.
- [104] S. Little, J. Geurts, and J. Hunter. Dynamic generation of intelligent multimedia presentations through semantic inferencing. In *Conf. on Re*search and Advanced Technology for Digital Libraries. Springer-Verlag, September 2002.
- [105] S. Little and L. Hardman. Cuypers Meets Users: Implementing a User Model Architecture for Multimedia Presentation Generation. In Y.-P. P. Chen, editor, 10th Int. Multimedia Modeling Conf.; Brisbane, Australia, pages 364–364. IEEE, January 2004.
- [106] T. D. C. Little and A. Ghafoor. Network considerations for distributed multimedia object composition and communication. *IEEE Network*, 4(6):32–40, 45–49, November 1990.
- [107] T. D. C. Little and A. Ghafoor. Interval-Based Conceptual Models for Time-Dependent Multimedia Data. *IEEE Trans. on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 5(4):551–563, 1993.
- [108] Yijuan Lu, Nicu Sebe, Ross Hytnen, and Qi Tian. Personalization in multimedia retrieval: A survey. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 51:247–277, 2011.
- [109] M. T. Maybury, editor. Intelligent multimedia interfaces. American Association for Artificial Intelligence, Menlo Park, CA, USA, 1993.
- [110] K. McKeown, J. Robin, and M. Tanenblatt. Tailoring lexical choice to the user's vocabulary in multimedia explanation generation. In Proc. of the 31st Conf. on Association for Computational Linguistics; Columbus, OH, USA, pages 226–234, 1993.
- [111] Carlo Meghini, Fabrizio Sebastiani, and Umberto Straccia. A model of multimedia information retrieval. J. ACM, 48(5):909–970, 2001.
- [112] Jim Melton and Andrew Eisenberg. SQL multimedia and application packages (SQL/MM). SIGMOD Rec., 30:97–102, December 2001.
- [113] Merriam-Webster, Inc., USA. Definition of multimedia, 2006. http: //www.m-w.com/dictionary/multimedia, last accessed: 23/1/2013.

- [114] Merriam-Webster, Inc., USA. Definition of personalize, 2006. http://www.m-w.com/dictionary/personalization, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [115] M. D. Mulvenna, S. S. Anand, and A. G. Büchner. Personalization on the Net using Web mining: introduction. *Communications of the ACM*, 43(8):122–125, 2000.
- [116] J. Nielsen. Personalization is Over-Rated, October 1998. http://www. nngroup.com/articles/personalization-is-over-rated/, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [117] D. Papadias and T. Sellis. Qualitative Representation of Spatial Knowledge in Two-Dimensional Space. The VLDB Journal: The International Journal on Very Large Data Bases, 3(4):479–516, October 1994.
- [118] D. Papadias, Y. Theodoridis, T. Sellis, and M. J. Egenhofer. Topological Relations in the World of Minimum Bounding Rectangles: A Study with R-Trees. In Proc. of the ACM SIGMOD Conf. on Management of Data; San Jose, CA, USA, pages 92–103, March 1995.
- [119] Dimitris Papadias, Timos Sellis, Yannis Theodoridis, and Max J. Egenhofer. Topological relations in the world of minimum bounding rectangles: a study with r-trees. In SIGMOD, pages 92–103. ACM, 1995.
- [120] Stéphane Lo Presti, Didier Bert, and Andrzej Duda. Tao: Temporal algebraic operators for modeling multimedia presentations. J. Network and Computer Applications, 25(4):319–342, 2002.
- [121] Naveed U. Qazi, Miae Woo, and Arif Ghafoor. A synchronization and communication model for distributed multimedia objects. In *MULTI-MEDIA*, pages 147–155. ACM, 1993.
- [122] M. D. Rabin and M. J. Burns. Multimedia authoring tools. In Conf. companion on Human factors in computing systems; Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, pages 380–381. ACM, 1996.
- [123] D. Riecken. Personalized communication networks. Communications of the ACM, 43(8):41–42, 2000.
- [124] S. J. Russell and P. Norvig. Artificial Intelligence: A Modern Approach. Prentice Hall, 2nd edition, 2003.
- [125] L. Rutledge, B. Bailey, J. van Ossenbruggen, L. Hardman, and J. Geurts. Generating presentation constraints from rhetorical structure. In *Hypertext and Hypermedia*, pages 19–28. ACM, 2000.
- [126] L. Rutledge, L. Hardman, J. van Ossenbruggen, and D. C. A. Bulterman. Implementing Adaptability in the Standard Reference Model for Intelligent Multimedia Presentation Systems. In Proc. of the 1998 Conf. on MultiMedia Modeling, pages 12–20. IEEE, 1998.

#### Book title goes here

- [127] L. Rutledge, J. van Ossenbruggen, L. Hardman, and D. C. A. Bulterman. Practical application of existing hypermedia standards and tools. In Proc. of the 3rd ACM Conf. on Digital libraries; Pittsburgh, PA, USA, pages 191–199. ACM, 1998.
- [128] A. Salomaa. Computation and automata. Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [129] Philipp Sandhaus, Sabine Thieme, and Susanne Boll. Processes of photo book production. *Multimedia Syst.*, 14(6):351–357, 2008.
- [130] A. Scherp. Software development process model and methodology for virtual laboratories. In Proc. of the 20th IASTED Int. Multi-Conf. Applied Informatics; Innsbruck, Austria, pages 47–52. IASTED, February 2002.
- [131] A. Scherp. A Component Framework for Personalized Multimedia Applications. PhD thesis, University of Oldenburg, Germany, 2006. http: //www.ansgarscherp.net/dissertation, last accessed: 20/1/2013.
- [132] A. Scherp and S. Boll. Context-driven smart authoring of multimedia content with xSMART. In Proc. of the 13th annual ACM Int. Conf. on Multimedia; Hilton, Singapore, pages 802–803. ACM, 2005.
- [133] A. Scherp and S. Boll. Paving the Last Mile for Multi-Channel Multimedia Presentation Generation. In Y.-P. P. Chen, editor, *Proc. of the* 11th Int. Conf. on Multimedia Modeling; Melbourne, Australia, pages 190–197. IEEE, January 2005.
- [134] Ansgar Scherp and Susanne Boll. Managing Multimedia Semantics, chapter MM4U - A framework for creating personalized multimedia content, page 246. Idea Publishing, 2005.
- [135] Ansgar Scherp and Susanne Boll. Paving the last mile for multi-channel multimedia presentation generation. In *Multimedia Modeling*, pages 190–197. IEEE, 2005.
- [136] P. Schmitz, J. Yu, and P. Santangeli. Timed Interactive Multimedia Extensions for HTML (HTML+TIME) - Extending SMIL into the Web Browser, September 1998. http://www.w3.org/TR/1998/ NOTE-HTMLplusTIME-19980918, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [137] R. Schulmeister. Intelligent tutorial systems. In Hypermedia Learning Systems: Theory - Didactics - Design, chapter 6. Oldenbourg, Munich, Germany, Hamburg, Germany, 2nd edition, 1997.
- [138] David Smits and Paul De Bra. Gale: a highly extensible adaptive hypermedia engine. In Proceedings of the 22nd ACM conference on Hypertext and hypermedia, HT '11, pages 63–72, New York, NY, USA, 2011. ACM.

- [139] Special Issue of Comput. Stand. Interfaces on Standard Reference Model for Intelligent Multimedia Presentation Systems, December 1997. vol. 18, no. 6-7.
- [140] N. Stash, A. Cristea, and P. De Bra. Authoring of Learning Styles in Adaptive Hypermedia. In World Wide Web Conf., Education Track; New York, NY, USA, pages 114–123. ACM, 2004.
- [141] N. Stash and P. De Bra. Building Adaptive Presentations with AHA!2.0. In Proc. of the PEG Conf.; Sint Petersburg, Russia, June 2003.
- [142] Ben Steichen, Alexander O'Connor, and Vincent Wade. Personalisation in the wild: providing personalisation across semantic, social and openweb resources. In *Proceedings of the 22nd ACM conference on Hypertext* and hypermedia, HT '11, pages 73–82, New York, NY, USA, 2011. ACM.
- [143] R. Steinmetz and K. Nahrstedt. Multimedia: Computing, Communications and Applications. Prentice Hall, 1995.
- [144] Knut Stolze. SQL/MM Spatial the standard to manage spatial data in a relational database system. In *BTW*, volume 26 of *LNI*, pages 247–264. Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V., 2003.
- [145] SumTotal Systems, Inc., USA. ToolBook, 2006. http://www.toolbook. com/, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [146] Scalable Vector Graphics (SVG) Full 1.2 Specification, April 2005. http://www.w3.org/TR/2005/WD-SVG12-20050413/, last accessed: 22/1/2013.
- [147] R. S. Tannenbaum. Theoretical Foundations of Multimedia. W. H. Freeman & Co., New York, NY, USA, 1998.
- [148] Tumult, Inc. Hype, 2013. http://tumult.com/hype/, last accessed: 20/1/2013.
- [149] Unidex, Inc., USA. Universal Turing Machine in XSLT, March 2001. http://unidex.com/turing/utm.htm, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [150] G. C. Van den Eijkel, M. M. Lankhorst, H. Van Kranenburg, and M. E. Bijlsma. Personalization of next-generation mobile services. In Wireless World Research forum; Munich, Germany, March 2001.
- [151] P. van Emde Boas. Machine models and simulation. In Handbook of Theoretical Computer Science, Volume A: Algorithms and Complexity (A), pages 1–66. Elsevier, 1990.
- [152] J. van Ossenbruggen, L. Hardman, J. Geurts, and L. Rutledge. Towards a multimedia formatting vocabulary. In Proc. of the 12th Int. Conf. on World Wide Web; Budapest, Hungary, pages 384–393. ACM, 2003.

- [153] J. R. van Ossenbruggen, F. J. Cornelissen, J. P. T. M. Guerts, L. W. Rutledge, and H. L. Hardman. Cuypers: a semi-automatic hypermedia presentation system. Technical Report INS-R0025, CWI, The Netherlands, December 2000.
- [154] Jacco van Ossenbruggen, Joost Geurts, Frank Cornelissen, Lynda Hardman, and Lloyd Rutledge. Towards second and third generation webbased multimedia. In WWW, pages 479–488, 2001.
- [155] G. van Rossum, J. Jansen, S. Mullender, and D. C. A. Bulterman. CMIFed: a presentation environment for portable hypermedia documents. In *MULTIMEDIA*, pages 183–188. ACM, 1993.
- [156] W3C (World Wide Web Consortium). Cascading Style Sheets, 2006. http://www.w3.org/Style/CSS/, last accessed: 23/1/2013.
- [157] W3C (World Wide Web Consortium). HTML5, December 2012. http: //www.w3.org/TR/html5/, last accessed: 20/1/2013.
- [158] T. Wahl and K. Rothermel. Representing Time in Multimedia Systems. In Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. on Multimedia Computing and Systems; Boston, MA, USA, pages 538–543, May 1994.
- [159] Miae Woo, N.U. Qazi, and A. Ghafoor. A synchronization framework for communication of pre-orchestrated multimedia information. *Network*, *IEEE*, 8(1):52–61, jan.-feb. 1994.
- [160] H. Wu and P. De Bra. Link-Independent Navigation Support in Web-Based Adaptive Hypermedia. In 11th Int. World Wide Web Conf.; Honolulu, HI, USA, May 2002.
- [161] H. Wu, E. de Kort, and P. De Bra. Design issues for general-purpose adaptive hypermedia systems. In Proc. of the 12th ACM Conf. on Hypertext and Hypermedia; rhus, Denmark, pages 141–150. ACM, 2001.
- [162] Jun Xiao, Xuemei Zhang, Phil Cheatle, Yuli Gao, and C. Brian Atkins. Mixed-initiative photo collage authoring. In *Proceedings of the 16th* ACM international conference on Multimedia, MM '08, pages 509–518, New York, NY, USA, 2008. ACM.
- [163] Sonja Zillner, Utz Westermann, and Werner Winiwarter. EMMA
  a query algebra for enhanced multimedia meta objects. In *CoopIS/DOA/ODBASE*, pages 1030–1049. Springer, 2004.